
NOTICE 
 

OF 
 

MEETING 

 

ROYAL BOROUGH DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT PANEL 

 
will meet on 

 
WEDNESDAY, 20TH JANUARY, 2021 

 
At 6.15 pm 

 
in the 

 
VIRTUAL MEETING - ONLINE ACCESS  

 
TO VIEW THE MEETING PLEASE GO TO OUR RBWM YOUTUBE PAGE – 

HTTPS://WWW.YOUTUBE.COM/USER/WINDSORMAIDENHEAD 
 

 
TO: MEMBERS OF THE ROYAL BOROUGH DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL 

 
COUNCILLORS PHIL HASELER (CHAIRMAN), JOHN BOWDEN, DAVID CANNON 
(VICE-CHAIRMAN), GEOFF HILL, DAVID HILTON, NEIL KNOWLES, 
JOSHUA REYNOLDS, AMY TISI AND LEO WALTERS  

 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
COUNCILLORS GURPREET BHANGRA, MANDY BRAR, KAREN DAVIES, 
ANDREW JOHNSON, GREG JONES, JULIAN SHARPE, SHAMSUL SHELIM, 
HELEN TAYLOR AND JON DAVEY 
 

Karen Shepherd – Head of Governance - Issued: 12 January 2021 
 
Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 

web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Shilpa Manek 01628 796310 

 

 
Recording of Meetings – In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of 

the virtual meeting will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio 
and/or video, you are giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the 
public domain. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or Legal 
representative at the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 

  

5 - 6 
 

3.   MINUTES OF THE 16 DECEMBER 2020 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2020 as an 
accurate record. 

  

7 - 10 
 

4.   20/00864/OUT - STATION COURT, HIGH ROAD, COOKHAM, 
MAIDENHEAD, SL6 9JF 
 
PROPOSAL: Outline application for access, appearance, layout and 
scale only to be considered at this stage with all other matters to be 
reserved for the erection of x12 flats. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: PERMIT 
 
 
APPLICANT: David Howells 
 
 
MEMBER CALL-IN: N/A 
 
 
EXPIRY DATE: 6 July 2020 

  

11 - 34 
 

5.   ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS 
 
To note the contents of the reports. 

  

35 - 42 
 

 
 
 



LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 
1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been 
relied 
on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation. 
The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions, 
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local 
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters 
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background 
Paper, 
although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to 
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded 
as 
“Comments Awaited”. 
The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning 
Acts 
and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire 
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, 
as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are common 
to 
the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these documents 
will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”. 
 
STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000, 
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8 
(respect 
for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property) 
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is 
further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the 
vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing 
exercise between private rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s 
decision making will continue to take into account this balance. 
The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual 
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues. 

3

Agenda Item 2



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 4



ROYAL BOROUGH DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL 
 

WEDNESDAY, 16 DECEMBER 2020 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Phil Haseler (Chairman), John Bowden, David Cannon (Vice-
Chairman), Geoff Hill, David Hilton, Neil Knowles, Joshua Reynolds, Amy Tisi and 
Leo Walters 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Gurpreet Bhangra,John Baldwin, Christine Bateson, 
Gerry Clark, Maureen Hunt and Donna Stimson 
 
Officers: Victoria Gibson, Rachel Lucas, Fatima Rehman, Andy Carswell, Haydon 
Richardson and Sian Saadeh 
 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 

 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Hilton declared a personal interest in Item 4, Shorts Waste Transfer and Recycling 
Facility, as he had attended a public consultation on previous plans two years ago and had 
seen a presentation. He confirmed he was attending Panel with an open mind. 

 
MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on November 18th 
2020 be approved as an accurate record. 

 
18/00945/OUT SHORTS WASTE TRANSFER AND RECYCLING FACILITY - ST 
GEORGES LANE - ASCOT - SL5 7ET  
 
A motion was put forward by Councillor Hilton to defer and delegate to the Head of Planning to 
grant planning permission, subject to the conditions listed in Section 14 of the main report, and 
the completion of the necessary s106 agreement to cover the heads of term as set out in 
section 9 of the report, and subject to no call in being received from the Secretary of State, as 
per the Officer recommendation. This was subject to a slight amendment to Condition 4 listed 
in the report, so that it read ‘up to 131 dwellings’. This was seconded by Councillor Hill. 
 
A named vote was taken. 
 

Approve application 18/00945/OUT, as per officer recommendation (Motion) 

Councillor Phil Haseler For 

Councillor John Bowden For 

Councillor David Cannon For 

Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 

Councillor David Hilton For 

Councillor Neil Knowles For 

Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 

Councillor Amy Tisi For 

Councillor Leo Walters For 

Carried 

 
 

5

Agenda Item 3



RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be deferred and delegated to the Head 
of Planning to PERMIT, as per the Officer recommendation. 

 
20/00809/FULL HURLEY HOUSE HOTEL - HENLEY ROAD - HURLEY - 
MAIDENHEAD - SL6 5LH  
 
A motion was put forward by Councillor Walters to permit the application, contrary to the 
Officer recommendation. This was seconded by Councillor Hill. The reasons given were that 
the very special circumstances listed at section 10.2 of the main report should be afforded 
moderate weighting, as opposed to the limited weight that was given to points one, two and 
four. It was therefore considered that the very special circumstances listed in the report 
outweighed the substantial harm caused to the Green Belt. 
 
A named vote was carried out. 
 

Approve application 20/00809/FULL, against officer recommendation (Motion) 

Councillor Phil Haseler For 

Councillor John Bowden For 

Councillor David Cannon For 

Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 

Councillor David Hilton For 

Councillor Neil Knowles Against 

Councillor Joshua Reynolds Against 

Councillor Amy Tisi Against 

Councillor Leo Walters For 

Carried 

 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be deferred to the Head of Planning to PERMIT, 
subject to the agreement of conditions with the applicant, contrary to the Officer 
recommendation. 

 
20/00979/FULL APPLE HILL - HENLEY ROAD - HURLEY - MAIDENHEAD - SL6 5LH  
 
A motion was put forward to approve the application, as per the Officer recommendation, by 
Councillor Hill. This was seconded by Councillor Cannon. 
 
A named vote was carried out. 
 

Approve application 20/00979, as per officer recommendation (Motion) 

Councillor Phil Haseler For 

Councillor John Bowden For 

Councillor David Cannon For 

Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 

Councillor David Hilton For 

Councillor Neil Knowles For 

Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 

Councillor Amy Tisi For 

Councillor Leo Walters For 

Carried 

 
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be PERMITTED subject to the 
conditions listed in the main report, as per the Officer recommendation. 

 
20/02570/FULL BROADLANDS - BAGSHOT ROAD - ASCOT - SL5 9JN  

6



 
A motion was put forward to approve the application, as per the Officer recommendation, by 
Councillor Hilton. This was seconded by Councillor Bowden. 
 
A named vote was carried out. 
 

Approve application 20/02570/FULL, as per officer recommendation (Motion) 

Councillor Phil Haseler For 

Councillor John Bowden For 

Councillor David Cannon For 

Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 

Councillor David Hilton For 

Councillor Neil Knowles For 

Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 

Councillor Amy Tisi For 

Councillor Leo Walters For 

Carried 

 
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be PERMITTED subject to the 
conditions listed in the main report, as per the Officer recommendation. 

 
ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS  
 
Members noted the contents of the reports. Councillor Walters stated that the records showed 
a good record for the Officers. 

 
 
The meeting, which began at 6.15 pm, finished at 9.06 pm 
 

CHAIRMAN………………………………. 
 

DATE……………………………….......... 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



   

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 

 
20 January 2021          Item:  1 

Application 
No.: 

20/00864/OUT 

Location: Station Court  High Road Cookham Maidenhead SL6 9JF 
Proposal: Outline application for access, appearance, layout and scale only to be considered at 

this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the erection of x12 flats. 
Applicant: David Howells 
Agent: Not Applicable 
Parish/Ward: Cookham Parish/Bisham And Cookham 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Antonia Liu on 01628 796034 or at 
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The application is for outline permission for the erection of a new block of 12 residential flats and 

associated development following the demolition of the existing office building. Access, 
appearance, layout and scale are to be considered at this stage with the only remaining matter 
(landscaping) reserved for subsequent approval. 
 

1.2 The loss of employment uses and redevelopment of the site for housing is acceptable in principle.  
 

1.3 Due to the proposed layout the proposed building would respect the general building line / set 
back from the road and the spacing of buildings which characterise the area. The height, scale 
and form of the proposed building would not result in an overly dominant or incongruous building 
within the plot or the streetscene. There is no objection to the proposed design. Landscaping is a 
reserved matter, but there is space for a sufficient level of sustainable planting to soften the 
development.  
 

1.4 The proposed access is acceptable in respect of highway safety. A parking ratio of 1 space per 
flat is acceptable due to the accessible location and existing parking restrictions in the vicinity that 
would prevent any potential indiscriminate on-street parking to the detriment of highway safety. 
With reference to paragraph 109 of the NPPF, it is not considered that the proposal would result 
in a severe impact on the road network that would warrant refusal.  

 
1.5 There are no concerns in relation to loss of light, loss of privacy or visual intrusion to existing 

neighbouring houses. Noise from the adjacent railway can be satisfactorily mitigated for future 
occupants of the development. All habitable rooms are of a satisfactory size and benefit from 
natural light and ventilation. Proposed outdoor amenity space falls short of Council standards, 
which should be weighed against the development in the planning balance.  
 

1.6 There are no objections in relation to sustainable drainage, ecology or contaminated land.  
 

1.7 In accordance with paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the titled balance is 
engaged. The moderate harm in terms of inadequate amenity space would not significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the value of using suitable brownfield land within the settlement area 
which is given substantial weight and the benefit of using suitable small-medium windfall sites 
within existing settlements for homes, which should be given great weight. 

 

 
It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in 
Section 13 of this report.  
 

 

9

Agenda Item 4



   

2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 
 

 The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to determine 
the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the Panel. 

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1 The site measures approximately 0.16ha and is located within the settlement of Cookham on the 

south side of High Road at its junction with Peace Lane. The site currently comprises a single 
storey, L-shape building in office (Class E) use with a footprint of approximately 423sqm and 
maximum height of approximately 4.8m. The building is sited to the southeast of the site with the 
short arm of the L sited approximately 1m from the southern boundary and the long arm sited 
approximately 3m from the eastern boundary. Between the existing building and the eastern 
boundary is a narrow strip of grass which, due to the change in ground level, is approximately 1m 
higher than the remainder of the site. The remainder of the site predominately comprises of 
hardsurfacing for parking and turning which measures approximately 957sqm. The site is 
enclosed by a brick wall along the southern boundary, and railings along the western and eastern 
boundary. Access to the site is located to the north, off High Road. There is a further change in 
ground level between the site and Peace Lane with Peace Lane sited approximately 1m higher. 

 
3.2 The surrounding area is predominately residential, although Cookham train station and a parade 

of shops is located approximately 60-100m to the north-east. Parking for the train station lies 
immediately to the north of the site. The railway track runs north to south adjacent to the eastern 
boundary to the site. To the south of the site are residential bungalows on the east side of Peace 
Lane. The adjacent bungalow to the south is known as St Ives. On the western side of Peace 
Lane are two storey detached houses.  

 
4. KEY CONSTRAINTS   
 
4.1 The site lies within an area of contaminated land.  
 
5. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
5.1 The original application was for outline permission for the erection of a new block of 14 residential 

flats and associated development following the demolition of the existing office building. Access, 
appearance, layout and scale are to be considered with all other matters (landscaping) reserved. 

 
5.2 During the course of the application the scheme has been amended. The main changes are as 

follows:  

 reduction in size of the proposed building resulting in the provision of 12 flats 

 reduction in ridge height and simplification of roof form   

 shallower pitches to the gables, and removal gable on side (Peace Lane) Elevation  

 replacement of stone quoins with brick quoins 

 stone headers have been retained on the ground and first floor windows within the gable 
elements, but replaced with brick headers on all other windows 

 
5.3 The proposed building is sited centrally, measuring approximately 23.5m in length and 16.3m in 

width, excluding the west gable which projects a further 2.3m and the east gable which projects a 
further 2.7m. The overall footprint of the building measures approximately 437sqm. The building 
is two-storey in height with accommodation in the roof. The north, west and east facing pitch-roof 
gables have an eaves height of around 5.7m and a ridge height of around 9.8m. The main crown 
roof has an eaves height of around 5.3m and a ridge height of around 9.4m.  

 
5.4 The proposed building is to be constructed out of red brick with brick quoins, a mix of brick and 

stone headers, and stone sills.  
 
5.5 The proposed accommodation comprises of 9 x 2-bed flats and 3 x 1-bed flats. 
 
 

10



   

5.6 The existing vehicular access to the north of the site will be retained although narrowed in width 
to serve a car parking area which comprises 5 spaces and measures approximately 155sqm in 
area.  To the north of this car parking area is a bin store. A new access is proposed from Peace 
Lane to serve a car parking area to the south which comprises 7 spaces and measures 
approximately 424sqm in area. To the north of this car parking area is a cycle store. The main 
pedestrian access to the flats is through a door on the north (High Road) elevation with a second 
access on the west (Peace Lane) elevation. 

 
5.7  Around the building is open space measuring approximately 626sqm. The ground floor flats (nos. 

1-4) benefit from a private patio area and the first floor flats (nos. 5-8) benefit from a private 
balcony.  

 
5.8  The most relevant planning history for the site is as follows:  
 

Reference  Description  Decision  

19/03030/CLASSO Change of use from B1 (Offices) to 
C3 (Residential) to provide x4 flats. 

Prior Approval Required 
and Granted - 18.12.2019 

04/01631/FULL Construction of single storey office 
(B1) 

Approved - 24.03.2005 

99/34173/FULL Part change of use from storage to 
office accommodation 

Approved - 19.08.1999 

88/00123/FULL Change of use to storage and 
distribution of scaffolding and 
relaxation of condition 4 on consent 
418308 (working hours)  

Approved - 13.01.1989 

87/00093/FULL Extension to workshop for motor car 
repairs  

Approved - 13.11.1987 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
 Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003) 
 
6.1 The main Development Plan policies applying to the site are: 
  

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy 

Character and Appearance  DG1, H10, H11 

Loss of Employment  E6 

Highways and Parking P4, T5, T7 

Trees N6 

 
 These policies can be found at: https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy 
  
7. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS  
 
7.1 National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019) 
 
 Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development  
 Section 4 – Decision-Making  
 Section 6 – Building a Strong, Competitive Economy  
 Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport  
 Section 11 – Making Effective Use of Land  
 Section 12 – Achieving Well-Design Places 
 Section 14 – Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change 
 Section 15 – Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment  
 
 National Design Guide  
 
7.2 This document was published in October 2019 and seeks to illustrate how well-designed places 

that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It forms part of the 
Government’s collection of planning practice guidance and should be read alongside the 

11

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy


   

separate planning practice guidance on design process and tools. The focus of the design guide 
is on layout, form, scale, appearance, landscape, materials and detailing.  

 
7.3 Borough Local Plan: Submission Version and Submission Version Proposed Changes 
 

Issue BLPSV Policy  BLPSVPC Policy  

Character and Appearance  SP2, SP3 QP1, QP3 

Housing Provision HO2 HO2 

Loss of Employment Land  ED3 ED3 

Sustainable Transport   IF2 IF2 

Trees NR2 NR3 

Neighbouring Amenity  EP1, EP3, EP4 EP1, EP3, EP4 

 
 
7.4 The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 

according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations 
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received 
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the 
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the 
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough. 

 
7.5 In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake 

additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector.  Following completion of 
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV. 
Public consultation ran from 1 November to 15 December 2019. The Inspector resumed the 
Examination of the BLPSV and Proposed Changes with hearings held between 5 October 2020 
to 9 December 2020. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed Changes are 
therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above both should 
currently be given limited weight.  

 
7.6 The Borough Local Plan documents can be found at: 
 https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/emerging-plans-and-policies 
 
7.7 Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

 Cookham Village Design Statement  

 Borough Wide Design Guide  
 
7.8 Other Local Strategies or Publications 
 

 RBWM Parking Strategy 
 
 More information on these documents can be found at:  
 https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
 
 16 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The planning officer posted a notice 

advertising the application at the site on 6 May 2020 and the application was advertised in the 
Local Press on 16 April 2020.  

 
Re-consultation was undertaken on amended plans on 11 December 2020. At the time of writing 
this report the consultation period is still open and any further comments received will be 
reported in a Panel update.  

 

12

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/emerging-plans-and-policies
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance


   

 1 letter was received neither supporting or objecting to the proposal, but commenting that the 
submitted Planning, Design and Access Statement states that there is only one train per hour, 
which is incorrect, and the trains run twice per hour. 

 
23 letters were received objecting to the application, including from Cookham Parish Council and 
the Cookham Society (3 letters taken as 1 representation). In general, there appears to be no 
objection in principle to redevelopment of the site to residential however the following concerns 
have been raised (summarised below): 

 
 

Comment Where in the report this is considered 

Overdevelopment of the site due to mass and scale 
of building, amount of associated development and 
lack of soft landscaping. 

Section ii 

Scale and type of development is overly dominant 
and out of keeping with the character of the area.  

Section ii 

Concerns over highway safety due to location on 
dangerous bend in the road, inadequate access, and 
increase in traffic generation  

Section iv 

Insufficient on-site parking provision.  Section iv 

Loss of light, overlooking and visual intrusion to 
neighbouring houses, and increase in noise from 
intensification of the site to the detriment of 
neighbouring amenity. 

Section iii 

Inadequate level of amenity space provided and 
noise and disturbance from railway resulting in poor 
amenity for future occupiers. 

Section iii 

Frontage dominated by inactive rooms (bedrooms) 
resulting in poor natural surveillance / encouraging 
crime. 

Bedrooms are habitable rooms. 
Bedroom windows therefore provide 
natural surveillance.   

Houses are needed to meet local demand, not flats Section i 

Loss of employment. Section i 

Loss of historic element – platform 2 waiting room 
forms part of the site, which was built in 1850s. 

Section ii 

Inadequate sustainable drainage and flash flooding. Section v 

Noise and disturbance during construction. A condition requiring a site specific 
construction environmental 
management plan is advised by the 
Environmental Protection Officer and 
recommended (condition 4).  

Harm to ecology. Tilted balance is not engaged due 
to harm to habitat sites. 

Section vi 

Natural England should be consulted due to proximity 
to Burnham Beeches (SSSI and SAC). 

Section vi 

Network Rail should be consulted. Contrary to 
covenant with Network Rail 

Network Rail were consulted. See 
Consultees box below. Any covenants 
do not amount to material planning 
considerations. 

  
 Consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the report this is 
considered 

Arboriculture 
Officer  

Notes that landscaping is a reserved 
matter and no detailed landscaping has 
been provided with the outline application. 
Notes that the existing site contains very 
little landscaping, and any new 
development provides the opportunity for 

Comments were provided on the 
original scheme submitted. 
Following a reduction in scale 
and change in the form there are 
wider and larger strips between 
the proposed building and High 

13



   

new tree planting and additional 
landscaping. Raises concerns there is 
limited space between the proposed 
building and High Road to the west and 
the building and railway to the east for any 
significant tree planting and would 
therefore harm the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area.  

Road to the west and the building 
and railway to the east. The 
overall amount of green space 
around the building is considered 
to be sufficient to provide 
sustainable landscaping.  

Environmental 
Protection  

The site is within or near an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) and an Air 
Quality Assessment is required.  
 
No objection subject to conditions relating 
to noise and vibration mitigation 
measures; a site specific construction 
environmental management plan; vehicle 
deliveries and collection restrictions; and 
contaminated land. A smoke control 
informative is also recommended.  
 
 
 

DEFRA records do not list the 
area or nearby areas as being 
under an AQMA and therefore an 
Air Quality Assessment is not 
required. In relation to noise and 
contaminated land see section iii 
and vii.  
 
Site specific construction 
environmental management plan 
condition recommended. 
 
A condition restricting vehicle 
deliveries and collection is not 
considered to meet the statutory 
tests of necessary to make the 
development acceptable nor 
enforceable.  
 
 

Highways The development is in an area of good 
accessibility, and therefore a parking ratio 
of 1 space per flat is considered 
acceptable for this development.  Details 
of cycle parking that complies with the 
guidance set out in the West London 
Cycle Parking Guidelines is requested 
prior to determination.   

Section iv 

Lead Local 
Flood 
Authority  

Objects due to lack of ground investigation 
to inform the infiltration rate at the outset 
to ensure the proposed strategy is robust. 
Should tests reveal very low infiltration or 
high ground water, questions what would 
be the alternative strategy.   
 
Requests further information on the level 
of treatment of roof water before being 
discharged to the permeable pavement, 
and on the issue of compaction of gravel, 
and potential ground water contamination.  

Section v 

Network Rail  Objects to the development as there is a 
covenant contained in the land sale that 
any building should not be more than one 
storey, and there is a requirement that any 
subsequent purchaser enter into a deed of 
covenant in respect of the liabilities 
contained in the original sale.  

A covenant containing a deed to 
land is not a material planning 
consideration in determining an 
application, and planning 
permission does not override any 
restrictions on the title.  
 
A developer must obtain both 
planning permission and comply 
with any covenant on the land (or 
negotiate release or amendments 
outside of the planning 

14



   

permission process) for the 
development to be carried out.    

Thames 
Water 

No objection in relation to the waste water 
network and sewage treatment works 
infrastructure capacity. With regard to 
surface water drainage, Thames Water 
advised that where the developer 
proposed to discharge to a public sewer 
prior approval from Thames Water 
Developer Services will be required and 
refers the developer to the Thames Water 
website.  

Comments on waste water 
network and sewage treatment 
works capacity are noted. 
 
 
In relation to sustainable 
drainage see section v. 

  
9. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
 

i Principle of Development   
 
ii  Character and Appearance  
 
iii  Residential Amenity  
 
iv Highway Safety and Parking  
 
v Sustainable Drainage 
 
vi Ecology  
 
vii Contaminated Land 
 
viii  Other Material Considerations  

 
i  Principle of development  

  
9.2 The existing use of the site is Class E (offices) and the proposal would result in the loss of 

existing employment generating uses within the site. 
 
9.3 With reference to the Local Plan Proposals Map, the site is not a designated Employment Area 

(policy E2) therefore the relevant Local Plan policy is E6. Local Plan policy E6 states that for non-
designated employment sites proposals for redevelopment will be supported in appropriate 
circumstances. Paragraph 4.2.21 of the supporting text elaborates and states that redevelopment 
of sites in existing business use to alternative uses such as housing outside of identified 
employment areas will generally be supported subject to proposals having no adverse impact on 
locally available employment opportunities and their compatibility with other policies in the Local 
Plan. 

 
9.4 Paragraph 121 of the NPPF, which is a material consideration, states that:  
 
 “Local Planning Authorities should also take a positive approach to applications for alternative 

uses of land which is currently but not allocated for specific purposes in plans where this would 
help to meet identified development needs. In particular they should support proposals to:  

 
a) Use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided this 

would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of town centres 
and would be compatible with other policies in this framework…” 

 
 
9.5 In terms of loss of employment uses, the existing building benefits from prior approval for a 

change of use from B1 (offices) to C3 (residential), ref: 19/03030/CLASSO. Overall, given the 

15



   

flexible policy context and this fall-back position, there is no objection to the loss of the existing 
office building.  

 
9.6 In terms of redevelopment for housing, the Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

(SHMA) has identified a housing need of 14,240 new dwellings from April 2013 to April 2033 and 
windfall sites are expected to provide an additional 2,065 during this period. Therefore, the 
Council will generally be supportive of new residential development on small sites that 
unexpectedly become available provided that the proposal complies with other policies in the 
Local Plan. It has been raised by residents that houses, not flats, are required. The most up-to-
date evidence on identified need is set out in the Berkshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) (2016), which sets out that provision of housing types is relatively even (Detached: 31%, 
semi-detached: 25%, terraced: 19%, flats: 24%). In this context and given the number of flats 
proposed, the proposal is not considered to amount to a disproportionate addition of flats within 
the Borough. In terms of number of bed-rooms, the table below summaries the completions by 
housing size for the for the past 6 years taken from the Monitoring Report 2019, Table 8, while 
the Council’s 5 Year Housing Land Supply Statement (March 2019) reports a housing delivery 
rate of 97% based on the 2018 Housing Delivery Test. On this basis, the proposal for 2-bed and 
1-bed units are acceptable. An assessment on the proposal’s compliance with other relevant 
Local Plan policies is undertaken below. 

 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed 

Need (2013 – 2036) (Market Sector) 966 
7.9% 

3,508 
28.6% 

4,737 
38.6% 

3,074 
25.0% 

Completions (2013 – 2019) (Total)  818 
24.9% 

1,429 
43.5% 

538 
16.5% 

499 
15.1% 

 
ii Character and Appearance  
 
Density  

 
9.7 The proposal will result in approximately 87 dwellings per hectare (dph) which represents a high-

density development. The surrounding area has a density of around 53dph and so the proposal 
would represent a moderate uplift in density. However, the Council’s Borough Wide Design Guide 
states that places with a mix of densities are important to create balanced and sustainable 
communities, and therefore should be generally encouraged. Furthermore, paragraph 122 of the 
NPPF states that planning decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land 
taking into account the identified need for housing and the availability of land suitable for 
accommodating it, while paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that where there is an existing 
shortage of land for meeting identified housing need, which at the time of writing is currently the 
case (see section viii), it is especially important that planning decisions avoid homes being built at 
low densities and ensure that development makes optimal use of the potential of each site. As 
such, there is no objection in principle to the proposed density.  

 
9.8 Balanced against this is Local Plan policy H11 which states that schemes that introduce a scale 

or density of new development which would be incompatible and cause damage to the character 
of the area would be resisted and, while paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that substantial 
weight should be given to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for 
homes, paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that making efficient use of land should take into 
account the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting and the 
importance of securing well-designed places.   

 
 Design Policies  
 
9.9  In addition to Local Plan policy H11, which requires a compatible scale or density of new 

development with the character of the area, Local Plan policy H10 requires new development to 
display a high standard of design and where possible to enhance the existing environment, and 
policy DG1 states that harm should not be caused to the character of the surrounding area. As a 
material consideration, paragraphs 124 and 130 of the NPPF advise that high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what planning should achieve and permission should be refused for 

16



   

development of poor design that fails to take the opportunity for improving the character and 
quality of the area and the way it functions. 

 
9.10 The Council’s Borough Wide Design Guide SPD, which supports the aims and objectives of the 

above policies, sets out the over-arching specific design considerations for all scales and types of 
development from strategic design principles to detailed matters. In relation to the established 
character, the Cookham Village Design Statement (VDS) SPD identifies the key characteristics 
and provides detailed guidance on how to achieve compatibility. 

 
 Identified Character of the Area 
 
9.11 With reference to the Cookham VDS SPD, the site forms part of the ‘Cookham Rise and Station 

Hill Area’ in the sub-area of ‘High Road’. The Cookham VDS SPD sets out that the ‘Cookham 
Rise and Station Hill Area’ have a degree of urbanisation with a more compact housing pattern 
that typifies the rest of Cookham, although development has maintained generous spaces around 
individual properties to maintain a rural and semi-rural quality. In relation to the sub-area, the 
Cookham VDS SPD states that it is predominately a residential area comprising of mainly 
Victorian housing with some modern development in the mix.  

 
 Loss of Existing Building and Flatted Development 
 
9.12 There appears to be part of the original Victorian waiting room for platform 2 at Cookham Station 

(platform 2, no longer in existence) retained within the existing structure on site. The building is 
not designated as a Listed Building nor a Significant Non-Listed Building but could be considered 
as a non-designated heritage asset. Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states that in taking account of 
the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset, a balanced 
judgement will be required. The loss of the non-designated heritage asset should be weighed 
against the development in the overall planning balance.  

 
9.13 Turning to the redevelopment of the site, while the type of housing within the locality is 

characterised by houses there is no objection in principle to a flatted scheme subject to 
acceptability of layout, height, scale, form and architectural detailing.  

 
Layout, Height, Scale, Form and Architectural Detailing 

 
9.14 Cookham VDS SPD guidance G6.1 advises that new buildings should sit comfortably in their 

surrounds. The width, depth and height of a proposed building should be in keeping with 
buildings in the area, and new buildings should respect the general building line / set back from 
the road and the spacing of buildings which characterise the area. In relation to new apartment 
buildings G6.7 advises that they should adhere to modest scale and discreet design principles 
and should harmonise with their immediate locality. 

 
9.15 The proposed building would be sited centrally within the plot but would not break the established 

building line formed by the bungalows to the south of the site and there would be a sufficient set 
back from the High Road and Peace Lane frontage to provide space for landscaping to soften the 
visual impact on the streetscene. No substantive details on landscaping have been submitted but 
landscaping is a reserved matter and therefore if outline permission is forthcoming such details 
would be considered as part of a reserved matters application.  

 
9.16 Based on the height, scale and form of the proposed building, which is described in paragraph 

6.3 of this report, it would be a taller and larger building than the surrounding houses. However, 
this would not automatically render the scheme unacceptable; the assessment should be based 
on whether the taller and larger building would be overly dominant or incongruous. In this case at 
two and half storeys the proposed building would not be significantly taller than the 2 storey 
houses within the vicinity, and it is noted that ground levels fall away from Peace Lane and so the 
proposed building would be sited approximately 1m lower than neighbouring houses. While there 
is some uniformity in height to the bungalows to the south of the site on Peace Lane, there is a 
mix of building heights including on the opposite side of Peace Lane and on High Road. In terms 
of resulting mass and bulk, the proposed building is considered to sit comfortably within the plot 
with sufficient space to provide an adequate setting. In addition, the open areas created within 

17



   

the site would provide a reasonable gap between the development and neighbouring properties, 
which is an identified characteristic in the Cookham VDS SPD as noted in paragraph 9.9 of this 
report. Some of the space is given over to parking with 5 car parking space to the north and 7 
spaces to the south of the proposed building, but it is considered that there would still be 
sufficient space for a green setting and soft landscaping around the proposed building. As such, 
the proposal is not considered to be overly dominant within the site or incongruous in this respect.  

 
9.17 In terms of architectural detailing, given that there is a variety of architectural styles within the 

locality, there is no objection to the proposed design which appears to be turn-of-the-century 
architecture. During the application the detailing and materials has been altered to sufficiently 
harmonise the proposed development with the surrounding character.  

 
9.18 Taken together the proposal would not appear unduly incongruous, nor result in undue harm to 

the character and appearance of the streetscene and wider area to warrant refusal.   
   

iii Residential Amenity  
 

9.19 Local Plan policy H11 states that in residential areas, planning permission will not be granted for 
schemes which introduce a scale or density of new development which will cause damage to the 
amenity of the area. As a material consideration, paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning 
decisions should ensure that development should achieve a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users.  

 
9.20 To the south, adjacent to the site, is a detached bungalow known as St Ives, which is the closest 

neighbouring house. There is a separation distance of approximately 20m between the proposed 
building and shared boundary with St Ives, which is considered to mitigate any loss of light, visual 
intrusion or loss of privacy. Four car parking spaces serving the flatted development are located 
adjacent to the rear garden of St Ives but given the residential use and limited number it is not 
considered to result in undue noise or disturbance.  

 
9.21 In relation to future residents of the development, the proposed site lies adjacent to a railway line 

and near Cookham Train Station. A Noise and Vibration Assessment has been submitted to 
support the application, which concludes that mitigation measures would be required to provide 
satisfactory amenity levels for future residents in this respect. The mitigation measures proposed, 
which includes practical design measures including suitable glazing, acoustically attenuated 
ventilation and building fabric with a sufficient onsite sound insulation and sound reduction 
qualities would meet Progression Practice Guidance (ProPG). If minded to approve a condition to 
secure these mitigation measures is recommended (condition 14).  

 
9.22 Based on the proposed floor plans, all habitable rooms are of an acceptable size and shape to 

ensure that the rooms are able to function for the purposes they are intended. All habitable rooms 
also benefit from windows and so would have natural light and ventilation.  

 
9.23 In terms of outdoor amenity space, paragraph 8.26 of the Council’s Borough Wide Design Guide 

SPD states that flatted development should provide both private and communal amenity space. 
Principle 8.5 sets out that ground floor flats should have private amenity space which adjoins, is 
accessible from the flat with a minimum depth of 3m and as wide as the dwelling it serves. 
Balconies for flats above ground floor should relate well to internal accommodation and be a 
minimum of 2m deep, wider than their depth and provide a minimum floor area of 5sqm. The 
depth of the private patio areas for the ground floor flats would measure approximately 2m in 
depth and would not be as wide as the dwelling it serves. The proposed balconies for the first 
floor flats would comply with the standards, but no balconies are proposed for the second floor 
flats accommodated within the roof space. For communal space, Principle 8.6 of the Borough 
Wide Design Guide SPD states that there should be a minimum of 10sqm of communal outdoor 
amenity space per flat which must be connected to the building and easily accessible to residents 
and should be screened from public view, free from vehicles, located to receive sunlight and 
dominated by planting and allow for sustainable tree planting. It is considered that the communal 
outdoor space would meet the quantity required but not the quality due to its form and layout. 
This harm due to inadequate amenity space should be weighed against the development in the 
overall planning balance.  

18



   

 
iv Highway Safety and Parking   
 

9.24 Local Plan policy T5 requires all development proposals to comply with adopted highway design 
standards, policy P4 requires all development proposals to accord with adopted car parking 
standards, and policy T7 seeks to ensure that new development makes appropriate provision for 
cyclists including cycle parking. 

 
 Trip Generation and Access 
 
9.25 A Transport Assessment was submitted to support the proposal, which demonstrated that the 

proposed development will give rise to a reduction in vehicle movements in both peak hours and 
across the day. The methodology in predicting trip rates for both the existing and proposed use is 
robust. The existing access from High Road will be narrowed to approximately 4.8m in width to 
serve the car parking area to the north of the site, while a new access is proposed from Peace 
Lane to serve the car parking area to the south. The tracking shows that vehicles can enter and 
exit both car parks in forward gear, and the visibility splays of 25m to the left and right for both 
accesses are considered to be acceptable for a car to exit the site safely.  

 
 Car and Cycle Parking  
 
9.26 12 on-site parking spaces have been proposed. Concerns have been raised by local residents 

over insufficient on-site parking provision, and an increase in indiscriminate on-street parking as 
a result of the development. The Council’s Parking Strategy sets out maximum parking standards 
for residential development, and pre-dates the NPPF. With reference to the NPPF, which is a 
more up-to-date expression of Government intent, paragraph 106 states that maximum parking 
standards should only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are 
necessary for managing the local road network. Paragraph 105 indicates that when determining 
parking standards, the type of development, accessibility and local car ownership levels should 
be taken into account. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF further states that development should only 
be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 
9.27 In this case, the Local Highway Authority have advised that a parking ratio of 1 space per flat in 

this location is acceptable as it lies within a short walking distance of Cookham Station, which 
runs a half hourly service during peak periods and an hourly service during the off-peak periods 
ensuring that the site can be considered to be accessible. Furthermore, there are existing parking 
restrictions within the vicinity such as double yellow lines, and time limited and permit parking 
bays to prevent any potential indiscriminate on-street parking to the detriment of highway safety 
and so the development is unlikely to result in a severe impact on the road network that would 
warrant refusal in this respect. 

 
9.28  In relation to cycle parking, the proposal includes 1 cycle parking space per unit. The Local 

Highway Authority have requested this information prior to determination, but it is considered that 
there is sufficient room on site to provide adequate cycle parking and if minded to approve the 
details can be secured by condition (condition 10).  

 
v Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS)  

 
9.29  Paragraph 165 of the NPPF states that major developments should incorporate sustainable 

drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. A Sustainable 
Drainage Strategy (SUDS) has been submitted to support the proposal, which comprises of 
lowering the car park areas to act as shallow ponds and permeable paving which aims to 
completely attenuate the runoff in 1 in 100 plus climate change storms.  

 
 
 
9.30  The proposed sustainable drainage strategy is agreed in principle, but the Lead Local Flood 

Authority have raised concerns that in the absence of ground investigation to establish infiltration 
rates there is an assumption that the site will be able to infiltrate at the lowest possible infiltration 

19



   

rate. However, if soakage tests identify infiltration rates lower than those used in the strategy then 
detailed design can adjust the parameters accordingly. In the event of a worst case scenario of 
very low infiltration rates then the scheme can include an overflow to the foul sewer at a trickle 
rate (subject to permission from Thames Water). The detailed design following soakage tests to 
inform the detailed design can be conditioned (condition 11). The materials for the permeable 
pavement can also be selected to mitigate compaction based on standards details and can be 
secured as part of the detailed sustainable drainage design.  

 
9.31 In relation to rainwater, in accordance with the SUDS manual, roof water is clean by definition 

and therefore does not require treatment. As such, the lack of a filter strip would not a warrant 
refusal of this application. 

 
 vi Ecology  
 
9.32 The site lies within the 5km zone of influence Chiltern Beechwoods SAC which is a European 

Designated site. Where a proposal is likely to have a significant effect on a European Designated 
site either alone or in combination with other plans or projects the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 requires an appropriate assessment to be made in view of that site’s 
conservation objectives. Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF state that development resulting 
in the loss or deterioration of Special Areas of Conservation should be refused unless there are 
wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists.  

 
9.33 The primary reason for designation of Chiltern Beechwoods SAC is the extensive tract of beech 

forest which is an important part of a grassland-scrub-woodland mosaic, which support important 
orchid sites and stag beetles. Threats and pressures include management and use, problematic 
native species and invasive non-native species, and interspecies flora relations.  

 
9.34  Given the amount of development, the separation distance and the identified threats and 

pressures, the proposed development is not considered to have a significant effect on Chiltern 
Beechwoods SAC. Therefore, an appropriate assessment is not required.  

 
9.35  Burnham Beechwood SAC lies over 5km from the application site, and therefore out of a zone of 

influence and the proposed development is unlikely to have a significant effect on this SAC due to 
the distance involved.  

 
9.36 The site lies approximately 1500m from Cock Marsh which is designated an SSSI. The Cock 

Marsh SSSI Designated Site Details via Natural England website lists operations that would 
require Natural England’s consent and management issues (threats). This primarily focuses on 
potential impact on floodplain grazing marsh (drainage, water quality, grazing and use of 
fertilizers). In this context and given the scale, nature and distance of the proposal from the Cock 
Marsh, the proposal is not considered to result in any undue harm to this SSSI.   

 
9.37 In terms of wildlife within the area, paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions 

should minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity. A wildlife friendly landscaping 
scheme incorporating biodiversity enhancement such as the incorporation of native species, bird 
and bat boxes, log-piles, holes in boundary fencing to ensure wildlife can move from garden to 
garden etc. would address this issue. However, landscaping is a reserved matter and therefore if 
minded to approve the details of the landscaping scheme and its acceptability would be 
considered under the reserved matters application.  

 
 vii Contaminated Land  
 
9.38 The site comprises of brownfield land and within an area designated as contaminated land. If 

minded to approve a condition to ensure any risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised can be imposed (condition 6).  

 
 

viii Other Material Considerations 
 

Housing Land Supply 

20



   

9.39 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF set out that there will be a presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development and the latter paragraph states that: 

 
For decision-taking this means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
9.40 Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that: 

‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations where 
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 
(with the appropriate buffer).’ 

9.41 At the time of writing, the Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (with the appropriate buffer). It is further acknowledged that there are no ‘restrictive’ policies 
relevant to the consideration of this planning application which would engage section d(i) of 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019). It is therefore accepted that for the purposes of this application 
and in the context of paragraph 11 of the NPPF, including footnote 7, the so-called ‘tilted balance’ 
is engaged. The assessment of this and the wider balancing exercise is set out below in the 
conclusion. 

 
10. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
10.1 In accordance with the Council’s adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule, the development is CIL liable. The required CIL payment for the proposed 
development is set at Ј295.20 per square metre on the chargeable floor space. 

 
11. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 As set out in section viii it is considered that in this instance the tilted balance should be applied.   
 
11.2 Weighing in favour of the proposal is the value of using suitable brownfield land within a 

settlement area for homes, which in accordance with paragraph 118 of the NPPF should be given 
substantial weight, and the benefit of using suitable small-medium windfall sites within existing 
settlements for homes, which in accordance with paragraph 68 of the NPPF should be given 
great weight.  

 
11.3 Against this would be the harm in terms of inadequate amenity space. Given the acceptable 

quality of the residential accommodation overall, this should be afforded moderate weight in the 
planning balance. Given the extent of previous redevelopment on the site and what remains of 
the non-designated heritage asset, the loss of the non-designated heritage asset should be 
afforded limited weight.  
 

11.4 Overall and having due regard for the tilted balance, it is, in this instance, not considered that the 
identified harms would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal.  

 
12. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 

 Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout 

 Appendix B – Proposed floorplans and elevations  

 
 
13.  CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED 
 
1 Details of the landscaping (hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and 

21



   

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any part of the development is 
commenced. Reason: To accord with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 1995. 

2 The Development shall commence within two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters. 
Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

3 An application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority within three years of the date of this permission 
Reason: To accord with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended). 

4 No development shall take place (including site clearance, demolition or ground works) until a 
construction environmental management plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan must demonstrate the adoption and use of the 
best practicable means to reduce the effects of noise, vibration, dust and site lighting. The plan 
should include, but not be limited to:  

 
  a)Arrangements for liaison with the Environmental Protection Team;  
 

b)Procedures for maintaining good public relations including complaint management, public 
consultation and liaison;  

 
c)Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2: 2009 Noise and Vibration Control 
on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise disturbance from construction 
works; 

 
  d)Control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants;   
 

e)Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe working or for 
security purposes.  
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period 
strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the construction of the 
development. 

5 Prior to the commencement of any works of demolition or construction a management plan 
showing how demolition and construction traffic, (including cranes), materials storage, facilities 
for operatives and vehicle parking and manoeuvring will be accommodated during the works 
period shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan 
shall be implemented as approved and maintained for the duration of the works or as may be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic.  Relevant Policies - Local 
Plan T5. 

6 Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that required 
to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence until 
conditions 1 to 4 have been complied with.  If unexpected contamination is found after 
development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until 
condition 4 has been complied with in relation to that contamination. 

 
1.    Site Characterisation An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment 
provided with the planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to 
assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the 
site.  The contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority.  The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and 
a written report of the findings must be produced.  The written report is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority.  The report of the findings must include: 

  
   a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
   as assessment of the potential risks to:   
   human health  

22



   

   property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, adjoining land,  
   groundwaters and surface waters,  
   ecological systems,  
   archaeological sites and ancient monuments:  
   an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of preferred option(s). 
 

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's `Model 
procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 

 
2.    Submission of Remediation Scheme. A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings 
and other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to 
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme must include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site 
management procedures.  The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated 
land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the 
land after remediation. 

 
3.   Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme. The approved remediation scheme must 
be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the commencement of development other than 
that required to carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
4.  Reporting Unexpected Contamination In the event that contamination is found at anytime 
when carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority.  An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition 1, and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of condition 2, which is the subject of the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with condition 3.  

 
5.  Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include 
monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of (x) years, 
and the provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the 
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation 
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 
maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's ` Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and the 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. Relevant Policy Local Plan 
NAP4. 

 
7 No development above slab level shall take place until details of the materials to be used on the 

external surfaces of the development have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

23



   

Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance 
with the approved details.  

 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy DG1, H10, H11 
8 No other part of the development shall commence until the access has been constructed in 

accordance with the approved drawing. The access shall thereafter be retained as approved. 
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic.  Relevant Policies - Local 
Plan T5, DG1 

9 No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been 
provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing.  The space 
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development. 
Reason:  To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear.  
Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1. 

10 No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities 
have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the 
parking of cycles in association with the development at all times. 
Reason:  To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7, DG1 

11 No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for the development, 
based on the sustainable drainage principle, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include:  

 
a)Full details of all components of the proposed surface water drainage system including 
dimensions, locations, gradients, invert levels, cover levels and relevant construction details;  

 
b)Supporting calculations confirming compliance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (where infiltration to ground is proposed the calculations should 
be based on infiltration rates determined by on-site testing undertaken in accordance with 
BRE:365);  

 
c)Results of groundwater monitoring indicating levels recorded on the site and a design based on 
these levels; 

 
d)Details of the Maintenance arrangement relating to the proposed surface water drainage 
systems, confirming who will be responsible for its maintenance and the maintenance regime to 
be implemented. 
The surface water drainage system shall be implemented and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details thereafter. 
Reason:   To ensure the development is safe from flooding and does not increase flood risk 
elsewhere in accordance with paragraph 165 of the NPPF. 

12 No development shall commence until details of all finished slab levels in relation to ground level 
(against OD Newlyn) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 Reason: In the interest of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Local Plan DG1. 
13 The development shall not be occupied until all walls, fencing or any other means of enclosure 

(including any retaining walls), have been constructed in accordance with details that have first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory resultant appearance and standard of amenity of the site and 
the surrounding area. Relevant Policy - Local Plan DG1. 

14 The proposed development should be built in accordance with the proposed mitigation strategy in 
the Noise and Vibration Assessment by Mewies Engineering Consultants Ltd, Ref: 25370-04-NA-
01 Rev A, dated November 2019. Reason: To secure an acceptable standard of residential 
amenity  

15 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
listed below. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
particulars and plans. 

24



   

 
Informatives  
 
 1 applicant is advised to follow guidance with respect to dust control: London working group on Air 

Pollution Planning and the Environment (APPLE): London Code of Practice, Part 1: The Control 
of Dust from Construction; and the Building Research Establishment: Control of dust from 
construction and demolition activities.applicant should be aware the permitted hours of 
construction working in the Authority are as follows: 

 - Friday 08.00 - 18.00 
 08.00 - 13.00 
 working on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 
 2 The Royal Borough receives a large number of complaints relating to construction burning 

activities. The applicant should be aware that any burning that gives rise to a smoke nuisance is 
actionable under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Further that any burning that gives rise 
to dark smoke is considered an offence under the Clean Air Act 1993. It is the Environmental 
Protection Team policy that there should be no fires on construction or demolition sites. All 
construction and demolition waste should be taken off site for disposal. The only exceptions 
relate to knotweed and in some cases infected timber where burning may be considered the best 
practicable environmental option. In these rare cases we would expect the contractor to inform 
the Environmental Protection Team before burning on 01628 68 3830 and follow good practice. 

 
 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Site Location Plan and Site Layout  

 

 

27



 

 

 

 

28



Appendix B – Proposed Plans and Elevations  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



 

 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Appeals Received 
 

5 December 2020 - 6 January 2021 
 
The appeals listed below have been received by the Council and will be considered by the Planning Inspectorate.  
Should you wish to make additional/new comments in connection with an appeal you can do so on the Planning 
Inspectorate website at https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ please use the PIns reference number.  If you do 
not have access to the Internet please write to the relevant address, shown below. 
 
 
Enforcement appeals:  The Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, 

BS1 6PN  
 
Other appeals:  The Planning Inspectorate Temple Quay House, 2 The Square Bristol BS1 6PN  

 
 
Ward:  
Parish: Maidenhead Unparished 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60099/COND Planning Ref.: 20/01844/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3263317 
Date Received: 11 December 2020 Comments Due: 15 January 2021 
Type: Appeal against conditions imposed Appeal Type: Written Representation 
Description: Alteration to roof of existing outbuilding. (part retrospective) 
Location: Summer Place  Darlings Lane Maidenhead SL6 6PB 
Appellant: Mr  Willis And Mrs Harcus c/o Agent: Mr Michael Ruddock Pegasus Group The Columbia Centre 

Station Road Bracknell Berkshire RG12 1LP 
 
Ward:  
Parish: Windsor Unparished 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60100/REF Planning Ref.: 20/00052/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3263204 
Date Received: 11 December 2020 Comments Due: 15 January 2021 
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation 
Description: Replacement of the existing column with a 20m street works column with 9no. antennas and 

additional equipment cabinets and ancillary development. 
Location: Telecommunications Mast At Legoland Roundabout Winkfield Road Windsor   
Appellant: EE (UK) LTD & H3G (UK) LTD c/o Agent: Mr Ben Gilpin CS Planning Ltd Flat 41 Duncan House Old 

Torwood Road Torquay TQ1 1PU 
 
Ward:  
Parish: Bray Parish 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60101/NONDET Planning Ref.: 20/01339/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3261721 
Date Received: 14 December 2020 Comments Due: 18 January 2021 
Type: Non-determination Appeal Type: Written Representation 
Description: Replacement dwelling with detached garage, vehicular entrance gates and new access. 
Location: Island Reach  River Gardens Bray Maidenhead SL6 2BJ 
Appellant: Mr A Remedios c/o Agent: Mr Jake Collinge JCPC LTD 5 Buttermarket Thame OX9 3EW 
 
Ward:  
Parish: Cookham Parish 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60042/REF Planning Ref.: 19/02442/OUT PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3251269 
Date Received: 15 December 2020 Comments Due: 19 January 2021 
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Hearing 
Description: Outline application for access and layout only to be considered at this stage with all other matters to 

be reserved for a proposed new equine centre with worker accommodation 
Location: Land At Lower Mount Farm And To West of Unit 2B And South of Long Lane Cookham 

Maidenhead   

33

Agenda Item 5

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/


   

Appellant: Mr Geoffrey Copas c/o Agent: Mr Tom McArdle Pike Smith & Kemp Rural The Old Dairy Hyde Farm 
Marlow Road Maidenhead SL6 6PQ 

 
Ward:  
Parish: Maidenhead Unparished 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60102/REF Planning Ref.: 19/03611/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3261789 
Date Received: 15 December 2020 Comments Due: 19 January 2021 
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation 
Description: Construction of 12 No. Flats, parking, landscaping, new vehicular and pedestrian access off Maple 

Close and creation of parking off Altwood Road. 
Location: The Crown 108 Wootton Way And Land And Buildings At The Crown Wootton Way 

Maidenhead   
Appellant: Mr Zahid Sadiq c/o Agent: Mr James Luntz ClearView Planning Ltd 15 Coulthard Close  Towcester 

NN12 7BA 
 
Ward:  
Parish: Maidenhead Unparished 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60103/REF Planning Ref.: 20/00559/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3261534 
Date Received: 15 December 2020 Comments Due: 19 January 2021 
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation 
Description: Erection of six dwellings with access, parking and amenity space. 
Location: 31 - 33 Belmont Road Maidenhead   
Appellant: Mr Leon Tusz c/o Agent: Mr Jake Collinge JCPC Ltd 5 Buttermarket Thame OX9 3EW 
 
Ward:  
Parish: Wraysbury Parish 
Appeal Ref.: 20/60104/COND Planning Ref.: 16/02366/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3248271 
Date Received: 31 December 2020 Comments Due: 4 February 2021 
Type: Appeal against conditions imposed Appeal Type: Hearing 
Description: Detached building for the maintenance of plant and machinery associated with the storage before and 

after processing and processing of waste materials which is the subject of a Certificate of Lawful Use 
dated 9 September 1998 (retrospective)   

Location: Fowles Crushed Concrete Hythe End Farm Hythe End Road Wraysbury Staines TW19 5AW  
Appellant: Mr Tim Fowles c/o Agent: Mr Michael Krantz Gunnercooke LLP 1 Cornhill London EC3V 3ND 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



   

 
Appeal Decision Report 

 
                      5 December 2020  - 6 January 2021 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60028/REF Planning Ref.: 19/02460/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/20/
3246173 

Appellant: Mrs Shabana Ahmed c/o Agent: Mr Lloyd Jones LRJ Planning Ltd Pen-Y-Rhiw Redbrook 
Road Newport NP20 5AB 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Replacement carport - retrospective. 

Location: 26 Welley Road Wraysbury Staines TW19 5DJ 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 8 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The development is located within flood zone 2 and 3 and the Inspector concluded that 
insufficient information had been provided in order to fully assess the proposal against the 
relevant local and national policies with regard to flooding and drainage. 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60030/REF Planning Ref.: 19/01144/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/3
248423 

Appellant: Windsor Clinical And Home Care Services Group Ltd c/o Agent: Mr Douglas Bond Woolf 
Bond Planning The Mitfords Basingstoke Road  Three Mile Cross Reading RG7 1AT 

Decision Type: Committee Officer Recommendation: Application Permitted 

Description: Change of use from C1 (Hotel) to C2 (Residential Care Home), together with associated 
parking, landscaping, provision of amenity space and a rear porch extension (part 
retrospective). 

Location: Riders Country House Hotel  Bath Road Littlewick Green Maidenhead SL6 3QR 

Appeal Decision: Allowed Decision Date: 22 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
On balance, the adverse impacts of granting permission would not significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework. 
Having considered all other matters raised, including the extent of local opposition, the 
Inspector concluded that the appeal should be allowed. 
 

 

35



   

Appeal Ref.: 20/60032/REF Planning Ref.: 17/04026/OUT PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/
3249119 

Appellant: Claires Court Schools Ltd c/o Agent: Mr Andrew Black Andrew Black Consulting 17 Egerton 
Road New Malden KT3 4AP 

Decision Type: Committee Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Outline planning permission for the development of 2 new artificial grass hockey pitches, two 
artificial grass practice areas, a new pavilion building for shared use by the hockey club and 
school together with an artificial grass rugby pitch together with associated other recreation 
grass pitches 

Location: Ridgeway The Thicket  Cannon Lane Maidenhead SL6 3QE 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 21 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and would result in a 
significant loss of openness and would conflict with 3 purposes of the Green Belt namely 
checking unrestricted sprawl, preventing neighbouring towns from merging and assisting in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The proposal would also result in 
significant harm to the character and appearance of the area including the landscape 
character, setting of Maidenhead Thicket and setting of the urban settlement of Maidenhead. 
Despite moderate given to the provision of sports facilities for the school, the provision of 
facilities to Maidenhead Hockey Club, to economic and employment opportunities and 
biodiversity enhancements and limited weight to training, Very Special Circumstances does 
not exist that would clearly outweigh the harms identified above. 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60033/REF Planning Ref.: 17/04018/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/
3249117 

Appellant: Claires Court School Ltd c/o Agent: Mr Andrew Black Andrew Black Consulting 17 Egerton 
Road New Malden KT3 4AP 

Decision Type: Committee Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Construction of an all-through school comprising nursery and junior building; central building 
and senior building. Provision of landscaping, amenity area, sport/running track, 
environmental garden and covered multi-use games area. Provision of staff and visitor car 
parking, parent drop off and coach parking area 

Location: Claires Court Senior Girls And Boys And Ridgeway Schools The Thicket Cannon Lane 
Maidenhead   

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 21 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and would result in a 
significant loss of openness and would conflict with 3 purposes of the Green Belt namely 
checking unrestricted sprawl, preventing neighbouring towns from merging and assisting in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The proposal would also result in 
significant harm to the character and appearance of the area including the landscape 
character, setting of Maidenhead Thicket and setting of the urban settlement of Maidenhead. 
The loss of open space could be re-provided at an adjacent site (provided that the linked 
appeal is allowed). Despite great weight given to the need to alter the school, significant 
weight to economic and employment opportunities, moderate weight to additional nursery 
provision and biodiversity enhancements, and limited weight to teacher training and holiday 
care, Very Special Circumstances does not exist that would clearly outweigh the harms 
identified above.  
 

 

36



   

Appeal Ref.: 20/60055/REF Planning Ref.: 19/02287/VAR PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/
3251767 

Appellant: Sytner BMW c/o Agent: Mr Tim Farley Copesticks 39 Tudor Hill Sutton Coldfield West 
Midlands Birmingham B73 6BE 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Variation (under Section 73A) of planning permission 06/02492/FULL to vary the wording of 
Condition 14 (opening hours) to read "Details of the proposed acoustic fencing in 
accordance with figure 7.1 of the Noise Assessment by SLR Consulting dated August 2019 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the agreed 
works shall be implemented before any commercial operations are undertaken at the site 
between 13:00hrs and 17:00hrs on Saturdays or 10:00hrs and 16:00hrs on Sundays". 

Location: Sytner BMW Lyndhurst Road Ascot SL5 9ED  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 8 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposal seeks to extend the operating hours from 13:00 to 17:00hrs on Saturday and 
allow Sunday working between 10:00 to 16:00. A noise assessment has been undertaken by 
the appellant which shows noise levels from the site are 15dB above the background levels 
at the Lyndhurst Road boundary and 10dB above that for Bouldish Farm Road. The 
Inspector concluded that from the Lyndhurst Road boundary, the emanating noise above 
background levels, even with the proposed fence, would be a discernible nuisance on a 
Saturday afternoon and Sunday for the Lyndhurst Road residents. The increased hours of 
working would impair the basic living conditions of these residents when they are most likely 
to be at home and in need of quiet time. Whilst the proposed acoustic fence will help reduce 
noise at all times and not just for the additional times sought in the appeal proposal the 
benefit during the week, would be not overly significant as more residents would be at work 
and the critical time for quiet relaxation at home is Saturday afternoon and Sunday. 
Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires development to function 
well and the proposal would therefore conflict in terms of living conditions. The increased 
working time would help the success of the business and promote prospects for employment 
as well as providing an improved service to the community by offering more capacity and 
more extensive times for works. However, this would not outweigh the noise impact on the 
residents of Lyndhurst Road. 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60056/REF Planning Ref.: 19/01768/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/
3247764 

Appellant: Mr And Mrs Siu Cheang Law c/o Agent: Mr Ken Dijksman Dijksman Planning 35 Berkeley 
Road Newbury Berkshire RG14 5JE  

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Replacement dwelling, including the removal of x3 trees (T10, T16 and T17). 

Location: Charters Pond  Charters Road Sunningdale Ascot SL5 9QB 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 10 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposal would constitute inappropriate development within the Green Belt and would 
harm openness.  As such, the Framework requires that the harm by reason of 
inappropriateness be given substantial weight and that inappropriate development should not 
be approved except in very special circumstances.  Very special circumstances will not exist 
unless the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.  In addition to this harm there would be harm in respect of the character and 
appearance of the area and to trees. 

 

37



   

Appeal Ref.: 20/60074/REF Planning Ref.: 20/00391/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/
3254219 

Appellant: Mr Danny Clark c/o Agent: Mr J Bishop 1 Broad Hinton Twyford Reading RG10 0LQ 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Construction of 1no. four bedroom dwelling with cycle storage, new boundary treatment and 
associated parking. 

Location: Land At 16 Southwood Gardens Cookham Maidenhead   

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 9 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
It has been concluded by the Inspector that adverse impacts of the proposed development 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework when taken as a whole. Therefore, the proposal would not 
represent sustainable development. It would also not accord with the requirements of Saved 
Policies DG1, H10 and H11 of the Local Plan which require, amongst other matters that 
proposals do not adversely affect the character and appearance of an area. 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60077/REF Planning Ref.: 18/03725/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/20/
3251178 

Appellant: The Chairman Martin Bicknell c/o Agent: Mr Jeff Emmett JCE Planning And Architectural 
Consultancy Chetwood House Chilton Business Centre Chilton Aylesbury HP18 9LS 

Decision Type: Committee Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Relocation of Maidenhead Target Shooting Club from Braywick Park including creation of car 
park, erection of clubhouse and toilets, shooting stands, bunds, fencing, landscaping and 
planting with access off Green Lane. 

Location: Land West of Oak Tree Farm Gays Lane Maidenhead   

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 11 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposed use of the site would be for outdoor sport and the proposed 
buildings/structures would be appropriate facilities in connection with the use. There is 
currently no development on the site and the cumulative volume of all the buildings and 
earthworks would have a substantial spatial impact on the openness of the Green Belt and 
result in harm to the visual openness of the Green Belt. Furthermore, the development would 
encroach into open countryside.  The proposal would not preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and would conflict with one of the purposes of including land within it. The harm 
to the openness of the Green Belt would be demonstrable. The relocation of the club from 
Braywick Park, also in the Green Belt, does not result in an increase in openness to set 
against the harm caused at the appeal site. The proposal would constitute inappropriate 
development that should not be approved except in very special circumstances.  The 
Inspector has given significant weight to the sporting and community benefits of the 
development, the difficulties encountered in finding a suitable alternative site, and the lack of 
accessible alternative facilities. However, they do not outweigh the demonstrable harm that 
would be caused to the openness of the Green Belt and the substantial weight that this harm 
attracts. Consequently, the very special circumstances necessary to justify the development 
do not exist. The proposal would be contrary to the aim of the Framework to protect Green 
Belt land and would conflict with Policies GB1 and GB2 of the Local Plan, where consistent 
with the Framework.  Cost Decision:  Award of costs refused.  The Council did not misapply 
national policy in concluding there would be harm to openness as a result of the 
development. The Council's consideration of the issue of the like for like replacement was 
not unreasonable and it was not unreasonable for the Council to give limited weight to the 
applicant's financial circumstances when considering the availability of alternative sites in 
view of the lack of detailed information. The Council's approach to considering 
representations was reasonable. There was no unreasonableness in the way the Council 
balanced the benefits and harm of the proposal. The Inspector found the Council's reason for 
refusal to be well-founded and supported by the evidence.  Unreasonable behaviour, 
resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense, as described in the PPG has not been 
demonstrated.  
 

 

38



   

Appeal Ref.: 20/60078/REF Planning Ref.: 20/00887/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/20/
3257534 

Appellant: Mr Sawyer c/o Agent: Mr Duncan Gibson Duncan Gibson Consultancy 74 Parsonage Lane 
Windsor Berkshire SL4 5EN 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: First floor front extension with undercroft, two storey rear extension and alterations to 
fenestration, following demolition of the existing entrance canopy. 

Location: 44 Rushington Avenue Maidenhead SL6 1BZ 

Appeal Decision: Allowed Decision Date: 16 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposal would respect and enhance the character of the host dwelling and surrounding 
area, in accordance with policies DG1 and H14 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead Local Plan (adopted 2003) and the design guidance of the Framework.  These 
policies seek, amongst other things, design which is in keeping with the character of the 
area. 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60079/REF Planning Ref.: 20/00629/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/20/
3257490 

Appellant: Mr Zulficar Thahir c/o Agent: Mr Paul Chaston GC Planning Partnership Ltd Bedford I-Lab 
Stannard Way Priory Business Park Bedford Bedfordshire MK44 3RZ 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Single storey front /side extension with new pitched roof to front elevation, garage conversion 
into habitable accommodation and boundary fence. 

Location: 1 Ballard Green Windsor SL4 5PR 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 9 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The proposal fails to respect the character of the local area by reducing the amount of green 
space which is a feature of the area's character on a prominent corner location and is in 
conflict with Policies DG1 and H14 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local 
Plan. 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60080/REF Planning Ref.: 20/00818/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/TO355/D/20/
3259335 

Appellant: Mr Mohammed Shafiq Khan c/o Agent: Mr  Ehsan Ul-Haq ArchiGrace Ltd 50 Two Mile Drive 
Slough SL1 5UH 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Part two storey part single storey rear extension ( Retrospective). 

Location: 45 Summerleaze Road Maidenhead SL6 8EW  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 7 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The inspector considered that overall, the development would harm the living conditions of 
neighbouring occupiers at No. 43 Summerleaze Road, in relation to daylight and outlook. 
 

 

39



   

Appeal Ref.: 20/60085/REF Planning Ref.: 20/01955/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/20/
3261309 

Appellant: S Krishnamurthy c/o Agent: Mr Stephen Varney Stephen Varney Associates Siena Court  
The Broadway Maidenhead SL6 1NJ 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Part single, part two storey front extension. 

Location: 4 Winchester Drive Maidenhead SL6 3AH 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 9 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The Inspector concluded that the development by virtue of the front extension's visual 
prominence and intrusive outlook within the street scene would unbalance the front of the 
dwelling. As a consequence of this the development would harm the character and 
appearance of the locality. Therefore, the development would conflict with Local Plan policies 
DG1 and H14. 
 

 

Appeal Ref.: 20/60090/REF Planning Ref.: 20/01219/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/20/
3258731 

Appellant: Ms F Caviezel c/o Agent: Miss Nikki O'Hagan Planning Direct The Furnace The Maltings 
Princes Street Ipswich IP1 1SB 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Siting of a mobile home to be used as ancillary residential accommodation (retrospective). 

Location: 8 Wraysbury Road Staines TW19 6HE  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 16 December 2020 

 
Main Issue: 

 
The Inspector finds that the appeal proposal as described is not development within the 
meaning of Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. It is not possible to 
amend the description without changing the nature of the appeal thereby prejudicing the 
interests of the parties 

 

 
 

40


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf
	Insert from: "APRIL 2017_Govt access and declarations of interest.pdf"
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf


	3 MINUTES OF THE 16 DECEMBER 2020
	4 20/00864/OUT - STATION COURT, HIGH ROAD, COOKHAM, MAIDENHEAD, SL6 9JF
	210120_Item 1_Appendices

	5 ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS

